No. 72869-5-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Donald Canfield, Appellant - Plaintiff

v.

Michelle Clark, Appellee - Defendant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT



Chellie M. Hammack Attorney for Appellant WSBA #31796 801 2nd Avenue, Suite 1410 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1909

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

1. The Court below erred in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment as to claims of defamation against Defendant Clark relating to statements made by Defendant Clark to Jesse Logan.

2. The Court below erred in adopting the Special Verdict form submitted by Defendant including adoption of Question No. 3.

3. The Court below erred in ruling at trial to admit Defendant's exhibits 230, 231, 232, 233, 234, 240 & 300.

4. The Court below erred in failing to admit Plaintiff's exhibit 75.

5. The Court below erred in granting Defendant's Motion in

Limine as to evidence relating to the relationship between Defendant Clark and Seattle Public Schools including suppressing evidence that Seattle Public Schools was paying Defendant Clark's attorney fees, had given her benefits not available to other employees including providing benefits after the termination of her employment and other evidence supporting bias of Seattle Public School witnesses.

6. The Court below erred in limiting Plaintiff's evidence regarding Seattle Public School's bias, conduct and retaliation.

7. The Court below erred in denying Plaintiff's objection to

defense counsel's closing arguments indicating Plaintiff was required to prove damage to reputation to prevail on his claims of defamation.

8. The Court below erred in denying Plaintiff's Motion for a Directed Verdict requesting the Court enter a finding of defamation per se as to the defamatory statements presented at trial and renewed in Plaintiff's Motion for a New Trial.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether there was no dispute of material fact such that Plaintiff was entitled to entry of summary judgment on Plaintiff's claims of defamation relating to the statements made by Defendant Clark to Jesse Logan (Assignment of Error No. 1).

1. Whether adoption of a Special Verdict Form that included a provision requiring a jury to make a specific finding that defamatory statements were the proximate cause of damage to Plaintiff when the statements were or could be found by the jury to be defamatory per se hindered Plaintiff's ability to argue the theory of his case, was misleading and taken as a whole did not properly inform the jury of the applicable law. (Assignment of Error No. 2).

3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in admitting hand written notes and an investigation report that included unsupported facts and conclusions was an abuse of discretion when the records contained

inadmissible hearsay, hearsay within hearsay, were not relevant and even if relevant their probative value was slight and was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice to Plaintiff. (Assignment of Error No. 3).

4. Whether the trial court's abused its discretion in failing to admit Plaintiff's Exhibit 75 when the record was a business record and the witness was unavailable. (Assignment of Error No. 4).

5. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it failed to allow Plaintiff to produce bias evidence of SPS witnesses and Defendant Clark.
(Assignment of Error No. 5 & 6).

6. Whether misstatements of law by defense counsel in closing argument is one related to law that provides for de novo review. (Assignment of Error No. 7).

7. Whether defense counsel's closing argument was misconduct such that a new trial should have been granted. (Assignment of Error No. 7).

8. Whether the defamatory statements offered were of a character such that no juror could reasonably find they were not defamatory per se when the statements include an allegation that Plaintiff had a gun on him while at work at the school district and such an act is a violation of the law. (Assignment of Error No. 8).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. BRIEF EARLY PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

Based upon the events described below, Plaintiff Donald Canfield filed two lawsuits, one against his former employer Seattle Public Schools ("SPS") and one against an employee Defendant Michelle Clark. CP 1-5 & 486. This case against Defendant Michelle Clark ("Defendant Clark") was filed in December 2009, and raised claims against Defendant Clark for defamation for statements made to fellow employees and Defendant SPS' HR personnel, Jeanette Bliss. CP486. The second case against Seattle Public Schools ("SPS") raised claims of violations of Washington's Prevailing Wage Act/Wage Payment Act, including retaliation. *See Canfield v. Clark and Seattle Public Schools*, 2013 Wash. App. Lexis 1280, 3-4(2013). On motion of Defendants, the Court consolidated the cases. The facts surrounding the outcome of the case filed against SPS are described below. This case addresses the defamation claims brought against Defendant Clark.

B. FACTS THAT GIVE RISE TO PLAINTIFF'S DEFAMATION CLAIMS

- 1. HISTORY OF EMPLOYMENT AND COMPLAINTS OF UNLAWFUL CONDUCT AT SEATTLE PUBLIC SCHOOLS.
 - a. Promoted to foreman, no history of discipline.

Plaintiff first began working as a journeyman electrician, in 1981, after completing a 4 year apprenticeship program. CP 615 (23:10-12). He has held his EL01, journeyman electricians commercial wiring license since that time. CP 616 (28:16-20). During the years he has been an electrician, he has been an active member of his union, IBEW Local 46. *Id.* He began working for Defendant Seattle Public Schools as a maintenance electrician in or about 1992. CP 615(26:1-10). He became the foreman of the electrical department in or around 2000. CP 619 (41:24-4). His duties as foreman of the electrical shop include assigning work and managing the other electricians. CP 759-760. Although he can discipline employees under him, he does not have the authority to terminate an employee. *Id.* During the time he has worked with Defendant SPS up until December 2007, Plaintiff Canfield had never had any disciplinary action taken against him. *Id.*

b. Problems with funding for purchase of safety equipment, allow unskilled workers to perform electricians work, and participation in supporting a strong Union.

During the time Plaintiff Canfield has worked for Defendant SPS, he has been active in his union and has worked with the union to ensure electricians were treated fairly. CP 760. Over the years there had been problems with funding to purchase necessary safety equipment including aluminum ladders (using metal ladders is unsafe), flash protection (to protect electrician's in the event of an catastrophic electrical event), earthquake proof shelving, adequate heat in the office, safe trucks (including installation of the safety shield that protects drivers in the event of hard braking). CP 622-623 (81:21-85:18). There were always problems with funding and/or having money to purchase safety equipment. *Id.* Defendant SPS consists of two divisions, the maintenance division and the capitol division. CP 760. The capitol division has three separate divisions: Building Excellence ("BEX"), responsible for organizing new construction projects; Building Technologies Academics ("BTA"), responsible for remodel work, and Small Works, responsible for minority/small business contracts. *Id.*

L.

c. Complaints regarding failure of Defendant SPS to pay his employees what he believed were appropriate wages payment of prevailing wage and problems with Small Works, "Summit Meeting" just days before being escorted off school property by police.

During 2007, Plaintiff Canfield had made complaints that he believed his employees were not being paid correctly when they were used to perform work along side contractors on capitol projects. CP 761-762, ¶ 7, See also CP 628 (169:4-170:16); CP 629 (176:2-182:24); CP 631 (185:20-189:20).

Close in time to Defendant Clark's hire, the maintenance electricians were called to work on a BEX, or Capitol Works project involving the installation of cubicles. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield had complained that he believed the maintenance electricians should be paid prevailing wage because they were doing work that was under contract, along side contractors, work that was not within the scope of their maintenance work. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield had complained to the then new Senior Facilities Manager, Lynn Good. *Id.* Mr. Good had responded indicating Plaintiff Canfield and his employees would be paid the prevailing wage for the work completed. CP 761-762 & 779-780. During his deposition, Dan Bryant the Senior Shop Foreman acknowledged that payment of prevailing wages to maintenance employees had been a continuing issue. CP 636-638 (40:17-46:23); CP 642-643 (123:18-125:12).

During a summit meeting, just days before his being escorted off school grounds by police, Plaintiff Canfield again raised the issue of payment of prevailing wages in relation to a project occurring at Nathan Hale. CP 761-762, ¶ 7; CP 628 (169:4-170:16); CP 629(176:2-182:24); CP 6311 (85:20-189:20). There were several supervisors and managers at the meeting, including union representatives. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield explained that Mr. Good had agreed to pay prevailing wages to the maintenance electricians on the BEX project and that he believed they should be paid the same on the Nathan Hale project. *Id.* It was obvious to Plaintiff Canfield that this did not sit well with at least one of his supervisors, Mark Walsh. *Id.* Within days Plaintiff Canfield was escorted off the school grounds by police in a very public and embarrassing manner. *Id.*

2. DEFENDANT MICHELLE CLARK MAKES DEFAMATORY STATEMENTS WITH ACTUAL MALICE.

a. Plaintiff Canfield helps get a friend hired whom he believed was a good worker only to find that she refused to comply with the terms of her employment, refused to take direction and was a difficult employee.

During his time with Defendant SPS, Plaintiff Canfield had also served as the firm alarm technician. CP 762-763, ¶8. He did this from 1997 to 2006. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield was looking to hire a new maintenance electrician to fill the position during the summer of 2007. *Id.* He had known Defendant Clark for several years and knew that she had an ELO6 license and was a licensed fire alarm tech. *Id.* An ELO6 license is a low voltage electricians license. *Id.* The position he was looking to fill was an EL01 position with a certificate as a fire alarm tech. *Id.*, CP 781-785 (Ex D). He discussed the position with Defendant Clark explained the position would require that she attend class through the union to obtain her ELO1 license and become a union member. *Id.* Defendant Clark indicated she was interested in the position and Plaintiff Canfield set up a meeting with her, Nancy Mason and Janet Lewis, his union representatives, and Ed Heller, the Facilities Manager. *Id.* Mr. Heller left Defendant SPS shortly thereafter. *Id.* An agreement was reached and the terms were documents in a letter dated July 7, 2007 signed by Ed Heller. *Id.*, CP 786-787 (Ex E); CP 647-648 (51:18-55:17). The agreement required that Defendant Clark obtain her journeyman electricians license by attending school and working with the Union. CP 762-763 & 786-787 (Ex E); Unfortunately, it became clear to Plaintiff Canfield rather quickly that Defendant Clark had no intentions of obtaining her EL01 license, was a difficult employee to work with who refused to take direction or follow instructions. *Id.*

b. Defamatory statements to Aki Piffath and Jeanette Bliss - "when [she] started working here, [at SPS in August 2007] she asked him if he still had a gun on him and he said, yes it was in his pants."

During the first few months of her employment, Plaintiff Canfield had ongoing problem with Defendant Clark. CP 763, ¶ 9. Defendant Clark refused to follow direction. *Id.* She began to take equipment off the truck she was assigned including a ladder and pipe benders, something that was necessary in doing work as an ELO1 electrician. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield asked Defendant Clark to leave the equipment on the truck as she was to obtain her ELO1 license and that there were times when she might be in the field when that equipment was necessary for other employees to use. *Id.* Defendant Clark ignored the request. *Id.* She also had a habit of failing to return phone calls and Plaintiff Canfield had a difficult time locating her. *Id.* To resolve this, he asked her to frequently check in with him. *Id.* This angered Defendant Clark. *Id.* Defendant Clark also had a habit of taking extended lunches and/or lunches at a time that was inappropriate. *Id.* Frustrated, Plaintiff Canfield contacted her previous supervisor to see if he had similar problems. *Id.* Unfortunately he learned that Defendant Clark had a history of failing to follow orders and other frustrating work conduct. *Id.*, CP 788-789.

Because of the issues the parties were having, a meeting was called by Lynn Good to discuss the problem. CP 763-764, ¶ 10. Plaintiff Canfield told Lynn Good that he wanted to write Defendant Clark up for failing to follow orders and failing to act to obtain her ELO1 license. *Id.* Her failure to obtain the licenses was causing difficulty in scheduling work for Plaintiff Clark as he would have to ensure an EL01 was present and able to assist Defendant Clark with certain of her work projects. *Id.* Lynn Good told Plaintiff Canfield to wait, that she was a new employee and he would deal with it. *Id.* The parties did meet with the union representative present, Nancy Mason. *Id.* Each side discussed their issues and Plaintiff Canfield was hopeful that a resolution could be reached. *Id.* Unfortunately that was not the case and the problems continued. *Id.*

At the end of the week when the Summit Meeting occurred, the one in which Plaintiff Canfield raised the prevailing wage issue again to his supervisors, Plaintiff Canfield had scheduled the Friday off. CP 764-765, ¶ 11. He left Defendant Clark and another employee with instructions that they were to complete certain work orders. *Id.* Instead, Defendant Clark spent a good part of the day arranging to have desks delivered to the maintenance electrician's shop. *Id.* During the meeting with Lynn Good, the parties had discussed purchasing some desks for the shop. *Id.* With Mr. Good's approval, Plaintiff Canfield had planned on moving forward with picking some newer desks from the BEX warehouse. *Id.* While he was gone, Defendant Clark decided to move in some desks, used desks that she had located under the south stands of memorial stadium at the Seattle Center. *Id.*

Plaintiff Canfield had introduced Defendant Clark to Aki Piffath, a maintenance employee, not an electrician, that lived in Marysville as a possible car pool partner for Defendant Clark. CP 765, ¶ 12. The parties had been carpooling together. CP 656-660 (89:25-102:7). Apparently, after work that day, Defendant Clark complained to Mr. Piffath about Plaintiff Canfield. *Id.* In the process, she relayed to Mr. Piffath reports that Plaintiff Canfield carried a gun. *Id.* Plaintiff Clark testified that during that drive home, Mr. Piffath suggested that Defendant Clark talk with HR about her complaints. Id. It is unclear who first contacted HR, but Ms. Jeanette Bliss, Defendant SPS' HR representative contacted Defendant Clark to arrange a meeting a few days later. Id. During that meeting, Defendant Clark complained about Plaintiff Canfield, told Ms. Bliss she was afraid of Plaintiff Canfield and that he carried a gun. RP, Vol 5, 405:8-408:24. Ms. Bliss took notes during the interview. Id. Ms. Bliss testified that Ms. Clark told her that Plaintiff Canfield had guns in his home. Id. Ms. Clark went on to describe an event that occurred several years ago where she met Plaintiff Canfield on a weekend to help her load a pot into her car she was purchasing at a pottery store. CP 657-658 (90:14-93:22). She indicated he instructed her to park on school property, across the street from the store, and they walked across the

street. *Id.* During the walk across the street, Defendant Clark claims that Plaintiff Canfield took out a gun and carried it in his hand. *Id.* After crossing the street, he put the gun back in his pocket. *Id.* However, that is the only statement Defendant Clark testified that she recalled making. *See* CP 656-660 (89:25-102:7). Ms. Bliss testified that Defendant Clark stated further that after she began work in August 2007, she asked Plaintiff Canfield if he still had a gun and he said, yes it is in my pants. RP ,Vol 5, 405:8-408:24. Mr. Piffath was present during this meeting as well. *Id.*

Ms. Bliss testified that Mr. Canfield was escorted off the property that day due to the gun allegation. CP 680 (57:4-59:25) & RP Vol. V, 413:14-414:15. Plaintiff Canfield was contacted and brought to the security office. CP 765, ¶ 13. When Plaintiff Canfield entered the office, the door was locked behind him. *Id.* He was told that he was being placed on administrative leave and that there was an allegation that he was carrying a gun. *Id.* Shocked, he stated he was not carrying a gun, had never carried a gun on school property and offered to be searched, offered his keys to his personal truck, the company truck and keys to his desk and file cabinets. *Id.* No one from the school district searched him or his things and the police did not search him. *Id.* When he was escorted off the property, he again offered to be searched but was told no. Id.

Plaintiff Canfield was placed on administrative leave beginning that day, December 5, 2007. CP 680 (57:4-59:25). Ms. Bliss completed the investigation into Defendant Clark's complaints by the end of December 2007. *Id.* Plaintiff Canfield was left on leave through July 2008. *Id.* Defendant SPS imposed discipline including a demotion, allowing Plaintiff Canfield to return to work but as a maintenance electrician, not as a foreman. *Id.*

c. Defamation continues - She told other employees -"he carried a gun and never took it off his body", "I was in the electrical shop one day when he was there. I saw it on him."

During her deposition, Defendant Clark denies any recollection that she made any other statements regarding Plaintiff Canfield carrying a gun other than the story outlined above about the pottery store. CP 656-660 (89:25-102:7-103:6). Defendant Clark's defamatory statements did not end with the report to Aki Piffath and Jeanette Bliss. CP 816-818.

In June of 2008, while Plaintiff Canfield was still out on leave, Plaintiff Clark was working with another temporary electrician, Jessie Logan. *Id.* Ms. Logan describes her first day with Defendant Clark, stating, "[t]he only thing I remember of that afternoon was of her going around to a lot of the office personnel on the second floor of the school district shop and talking about a "Don." *Id.* She goes on to describe the remainder of that week and the following week. *Id.* Ms. Logan explained she continued to talk about "Don" to various office personnel, school custodians and other craft workers

at the shop. Ms. Logan goes on to describe:

She started talking to one of the teachers at an elementary school we went to about Don carrying a gun and having such a terrible temper. When I overheard this I asked Michelle, "Did you say that this guy, "Don", was carrying a gun on the school district's property?" She told me that he carreid a gun and never took it off his body. I asked her if she ever actually SAW the gun on him at the school district shop and she told me, "Yes, I was in the electrical shop one day when he was there. I saw it on him." I was flabbergasted. From the way she was talking about him, I really believed he was a potential mass killer. Michelle explained what had happened in the electrical shop just months before I took the call. She said that "Don" went off on her and became very violent on the job, and that it took a SWAT team to remove him from the school district shop. She said that nobody could stand him (not even the teachers in the schools) and that everybody was just glad that he was gone and thanked her for "getting rid of him". She told me that "Don" was currently on paid administrative leave while the school district could figure out a way to fire him.

Id.

During her first deposition on March 23, 2011, Defendant Clark

admitted that she did not know if she made much of what was stated in Ms.

Logan's deposition. CP 400-4041 (11:25-115:22). Defendant Clark was

shown the letter authored by Ms. Logan and asked the following:

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