72869-5

72869-5

FILED Oct 14, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72869-5

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 1

# DONALD CANFIELD,

Appellant,

v.

MICHELLE CLARK,

Respondent.

# **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT MICHELLE CLARK**

Earl Sutherland WSBA #23928 Mark F. O'Donnell WSBA #13606 Preg O'Donnell & Gillett PLLC 901 Fifth Ave., Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 287-1775 Attorneys for Respondent Michelle Clark

#

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

In *Maison de France*, one letter, the September letter, was found to be defamatory per se because it falsely imputed criminal

conduct to the appellants. 126 Wn. App. at 47. The letter specifically stated that the appellants were the "object of an investigation by United States Customs, the FDA and the Seattle Police for multiple counts of fraud," where at most the evidence supported an inference that they were investigated once. *Id.* The appeals court reversed a contrary finding of fact by the trial court and found that this specific statement in the letter constituted defamation per se. 126 Wn. App. at 54.

An April letter, however, did not specifically allege a crime, *i.e.*, fraud. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding of fact that it did not amount to defamation per se and did not support a claim for defamation at all:

The record does not support a finding that the April 22nd letter exposed the appellants to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, deprived them of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse, or injured them in their business, trade, profession or office. *Caruso*, 100 Wn.2d at 353, 670 P.2d 240. The record supports the trial court's conclusion that Mais Oui! sustained no actual damages as a result of the April 22nd letter.

*Maison de France*, 126 Wn. App. at 52.

Maison de France cites with approval Caruso v. Local Union No. 690 of Int'l Brotherhood of Teamsters, 100 Wn.2d 343, 353, 670 P.2d 240 (1983). The Caruso court made an

important distinction applicable to this case:

The imputation of a criminal offense involving moral turpitude has been held to be clearly libelous per se. The instant case is quite different. It deals with rather vague areas of public confidence, injury to business, etc.

\* \* \*

In all but extreme cases, the jury should determine whether the article was libelous per se.

Caruso, 100 Wn.2d at 354. [Emphasis added.]

This case should be governed by the same approach. It is the approach the Court took in analyzing the April letter in *Maison de France*: "Do the statements made by Ms. Clark satisfy the elements of defamation per se?" This is not the "extreme case" mentioned in *Caruso.* 

Mr. Canfield points to no statements by Michelle Clark that specifically accuse Mr. Canfield of committing a crime, such as the investigation of fraud in *Maison de France*. He relies on innuendo and suggestion. The statements to Mr. Piffath and Ms. Bliss barely rise to the level of false statements at all. *See,* RP 370-373, 404-408, 580-584.

Instruction number nine correctly stated:

A defamatory statement is defamatory per se if it exposes a person to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, to deprive him of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse, or injures him in his business, trade or profession.

As outlined in *Maison de France, supra*, the first question is whether a statement was made with actual malice or reckless disregard for the truth; and the second is whether the statement is libelous per se. Where a statement is made with malice or reckless disregard for the truth but there is no evidence the statement, "exposes a person to hatred, contempt, ridicule or obloquy, to deprive him of the benefit of public confidence or social intercourse, or injures him in his business, trade or profession" libel per se has not been proven. There is no rule that a statement is automatically libelous per se if it is made with actual malice or reckless disregard for the truth. *Id*.

Mr. Canfield cites *Michielli v. U.S. Mortg. Co.*, 58 Wn.2d 221, 361 P.2d 758 (1961) for the principle that if defamation per se is found the defamed person is entitled to substantial damages. But the Court also stated:

Whether the damages awarded are excessive depends on the facts in each case. . . In the instant case . . . the record shows and the trial court found that the respondents' reputations were substantially damaged as a result of the defamatory statement.

*Michielli v. U.S. Mortg. Co.*, 58 Wn.2d at 227-228. In Mr. Canfield's case, he produced no evidence of substantial – or any – damage to his reputation, particularly no evidence his business, trade or profession was affected.

The jury's determination that there were no damages should not be disturbed. Substantial evidence was presented from which the jury concluded that Mr. Canfield was not subjected to "hatred, contempt or ridicule" as the result of Ms. Clark's statements. There was no evidence Ms. Clark's statements damaged him in his business, trade or profession.

For example, there was no evidence that any witness had heard rumors about Mr. Canfield having guns at work and that they treated him differently because of the rumors. There was no evidence from any witness that Ms. Clark had stated to them that Mr. Canfield had guns at work and they thus treated Mr. Canfield differently or thought less of him.

The evidence showed that Mr. Canfield was demoted for reasons unrelated to Ms. Clark's statements. And he was eventually returned to his position leading the electrical department. Mr. Canfield continued working for the District for approximately four more years after Ms. Clark's statements and now holds a similar position at the University of Washington.

The jury was within its province to consider whether those statements subjected Mr. Canfield to the opprobrium sufficient to support a finding of defamation per se. When the jury did not award damages, it made a finding consistent with no finding of defamation per se. From the totality of the record, this Court cannot say that no rational trier of fact could have reached that conclusion. The judgment should be affirmed.

## C. The Trial Court's Instructions and The Special Verdict Form Allowed Mr. Canfield to Argue His Case to the Jury; Ms. Clark's Closing Argument Was Not Improper

#### 1. Standard of Review

Mr. Canfield has not assigned error to any instruction in this case, only to one question on the special verdict form. *See,* RAP 10.3(g). The standard of review for jury instructions, however, informs the standard for review of special verdict forms.

Special verdict forms are reviewed together with the jury instructions as a whole. A special verdict form and accompanying instructions are sufficient if they: (1) permit each party to argue his theory of the case; (2) are not misleading; and (3) when read as a whole, properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law. See Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., Inc., 127 Wn.2d 67, 92, 896 P.2d 682
(1995) (citing Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp. & Med. Ctr.,
123 Wn.2d 15, 36, 864 P.2d 921 (1993); Farm Crop Energy, Inc.
v. Old Nat'l Bank, 109 Wn.2d 923, 933, 750 P.2d 231 (1988)).

Essentially, when read as a whole and with the general charge, the special verdict must adequately present the contested issues to the jury in an unclouded, fair manner. *Capers v Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 142, 955 P.2d 822 (1998) (citing *Lahmann v. Sisters of St. Francis*, 55 Wn. App. 716, 723, 780 P.2d 868 (1989).

## 2. The Trial Court did not Err Including Question Number Three in the Special Verdict Form

The court in *Raum v. City of Bellevue*, 171 Wn. App. 124, 286 P.3d 695 (2012) , considered a challenge to a special verdict form:

Even on the merits, "a special verdict form need not recite each and every legal element necessary to a particular cause of action where there is an accurate accompanying instruction." *Capers v. Bon Marche*, 91 Wn. App. 138, 144, 955 P.2d 822 (1998).

\* \* \*

We presume jurors follow the court's instructions. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Soc'y*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 136, 875 P.2d 621 (1994). Raum cites to nothing in the record indicating the jury failed to do so in this case. His challenge fails. Raum v. City of Bellevue, 171 Wn. App. at 148-149. [Emphasis added.]

The verdict form in this matter was clear and not erroneous or confusing. Mr. Canfield failed to prove defamation per se. This result is consistent with the jury finding Ms. Clark made a defamatory statement but awarding no damages. As described above, the jury had a reasonable basis for finding no damages. The jury was clear in their decision that Mr. Canfield suffered no harm or injury from the defamatory statement by Ms. Clark in responding "No" to question number three. Juries have considerable latitude in assessing damages, and a jury verdict should never be lightly overturned. *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d at 197.

The Court instructed the jury on defamation per se, instruction number nine. Mr. Canfield's counsel argued for applying the instruction in closing argument and in her rebuttal as well. *See,* RP 1167, 1207-1208. But the jury awarded no damages. Instruction Number Nine clearly instructed the jury that Mr. Canfield did not need to prove actual damages if he could show defamation per se.

### 3. Defense Counsel's Closing Argument Was Not Objectionable; It Surely Does Not Warrant a New Trial

Where an objection is made to closing argument, the trial court's ruling is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 809, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), *overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014).

In this case, the following argument at RP 1183-1187 and RP 1199-1200 were not objectionable. The court ruled properly. The court emphasized Mr. Canfield's counsel could argue to the contrary.

Mr. Canfield's counsel indeed did argue to the contrary in her rebuttal. See, RP 1207-1208. No prejudice to Mr. Canfield can be divined from the argument of Ms. Clark's counsel. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

#### D. Issues Surrounding the Letter from Jesse Logan

#### 1. The Trial Court Properly Excluded the Letter from Jesse Logan

A trial court's rulings on the admission of evidence are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.,* 164 Wn.2d 432, 450, 191 P.3d 879 (2008). No evidence of Ms. Logan's interactions with Ms. Clark was presented to the jury, except that union representative Nancy Mason was asked if she received a letter and/or spoke to Ms. Logan. She answered in the affirmative but further testimony regarding the interaction was excluded as hearsay. RP 502-503.

"Jessie Logan's Letter", Ex. 75, was properly excluded. *See, Thomas v. French*, 99 Wn.2d 95, 103, 659 P.2d 1097 (1983) (A letter, an out of court statement made by those who signed the letter is hearsay and inadmissible unless an exception applies). Mr. Canfield offered Ex. 75, a letter purportedly written by a Ms. Jessie Logan regarding Ms. Clark, with a declaration to authenticate the letter.<sup>10</sup> RP 500.

The letter, dated September 2008, is replete with hearsay, double hearsay, and assertions of fact that are not within Ms. Logan's personal knowledge. The Court considered the letter and accompanying declaration several times, and each time the trial judge ruled it would not come in. RP 502-503, 522.

No hearsay exception applies to Ms. Logan's letter. Evidence Rule 804 includes an exception to the hearsay rule for former testimony when a witness is proved unavailable. But this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The "declaration" is questionable on its face. The date of the declaration does not include a year. It does nothing more than purport to adopt the letter's contents as all true. Ex. 75.

letter and accompanying declaration are not former testimony. See, ER 804(b)(1). Ms. Clark was given no opportunity to "develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination." The court correctly excluded this letter from evidence.

Mr. Canfield sought to admit the letter as a business record of Ms. Mason. By that logic anything sent by anyone to someone's place of work loosely related to that person's work would then become a business record. See RP 500-501. No support exists for that proposition. The letter stands in contrast to Jeanette Bliss' notes that were actually drafted by Ms. Bliss to record her work.

Finally, also in contrast to the admission of Ms. Bliss' notes, Mr. Canfield did not seek to admit the letter to chronicle Ms. Mason's business decisions or explain the reasoning of her decisions, which are entirely irrelevant to this matter. Instead he sought to admit the letter as evidence of the truth of the matters asserted in the letter. Pages 14-17 of Mr. Canfield's Brief also contain lengthy quotes from the letter, as if it were evidence at trial. At page 32, statements from the letter are used as "evidence" of defamation per say. The Court should disregard them.

### E. The Trial Court Properly Denied Summary Judgment Pre-trial

The Court should not review this pre-trial matter on appeal. "We may not review a denial of summary judgment following a trial if the denial was based upon a determination that material facts were in dispute and had to be resolved by the fact finder." *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 169 Wn. App. 588, 610, 283 P.3d 567 (2012) *aff'd on other grounds*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 310 P.3d 1275 (2013). The trial court explicitly denied the motion for summary judgment for the reason that material issues of fact existed that should be resolved at trial. *See*, RP 35-38.

# F. The Court's Other Evidentiary Rulings Were Correct; Any Error Was Invited by Mr. Canfield and/or Harmless Error

#### 1. Bliss Notes Properly Admitted

Again, the trial court's rulings on the admission of evidence are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d at 450. Mr. Canfield assigns error to Ms. Clark's introduction into evidence of exhibits 230, 231, 232, 234, 240 and 300. Each of these exhibits is the interview and investigation notes of Jeanette Bliss, a former human resources employee for the District. Mr. Canfield asserts the notes show bias and he had no way to defend against them. He further alleges the notes were unduly inflammatory and contained inadmissible hearsay.

Importantly, Mr. Canfield was the first party to admit Ms. Bliss' notes into evidence. RP 369. Mr. Canfield offered Ms. Bliss' notes regarding an interview of Michelle Clark during his direct examination of Ms. Bliss. RP 369; Ex. 228. Ms. Clark then moved to admit additional notes regarding Ms. Bliss' interviews during her cross examination of Ms. Bliss.

Contrary to Mr. Canfield's complaints, the exhibits containing Ms. Bliss' notes offered by Ms. Clark were not hearsay because they were not offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted. ER 801(c).

Ms. Clark offered Ms. Bliss' notes to show that the District's reasons for Mr. Canfield's discipline were unrelated to Ms. Clark's statements; and to rebut Mr. Canfield's argument that Ms. Clark's statements about guns caused the District's disciplinary action.

Even if the court concludes they are hearsay, the notes fall under at least two exceptions to the hearsay rule. First, the notes provided evidence regarding Mr. Canfield's general reputation and relationship with his co-workers. ER 803(21). Second, these notes are a business record. Ms. Bliss was in the business of conducting human resources investigations. "Under the business record statute, the trial court must be persuaded that the sources of information, and the method and time of preparation of the record were such as to justify admission." *State v. Iverson*, 126 Wn. App. 329, 340, 108 P.3d 799 (2005). A sufficient foundation was laid by Ms. Bliss regarding how the admitted records were made in the regular course and scope of her work and thus they were properly admitted pursuant to RCW 5.45.020. *See* RP 433-434.

Any error in admitting the notes was harmless. The statements described in the notes were also addressed in the testimony of both parties, and in the testimony of other former school district employees including Mr. Good, Mr. Craig, and Mr. Gallagher, among others.

Also, Mr. Canfield introduced into evidence Exhibit 20, a letter from the District regarding a potential demotion. The letter, and Mr. Canfield's testimony about it, detailed his co-workers complaints against him including: that he put a staff member on speaker and mocked him while calling in sick, RP 240-241; that he locked minority staff members in the equipment cage to clean it, RP 241; and that he called school custodians to check on his staff, RP 242.

Finally, details of the findings, scope and course of Ms. Bliss' investigation, including the same incidents described in her notes were addressed in the Arbitration decision offered by Mr. Canfield and admitted into evidence. Ex. 63. This decision was repeatedly referred to by Mr. Canfield, along with Exs. 20–27 and Ex. 65 also admitted by Mr. Canfield. Given that the incidents and alleged hearsay in Ms. Bliss' notes was also described in at least eight exhibits offered by Mr. Canfield, any error in admitting the notes was harmless and did not change the trial outcome.

#### 2. Bias or Prejudice Issues are Illusory

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